
年報
2 0 1 7

威發國際集團有限公司
於百慕達註冊成立之有限公司

股份代號：765

Perfectech International Holdings Limited
Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
Stock Code: 765

Annual Report 2017

Perfectech International  H
oldings  Lim

ited  威
發
國
際
集
團
有
限
公
司

A
N

N
U

A
L R

EPO
R

T 2
0

1
7
年
報



Page

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 3–4

Management Discussion and Analysis 5–6

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management 7–8

Corporate Governance Report 9–28

Report of the Directors 29–35

Independent Auditor’s Report 36–41

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and  
 Other Comprehensive Income

42

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 43–44

  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 45

  Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 46–47

  Notes to the Financial Statements 48–102

  Financial Summary 103

  Particulars of Major Properties 104

CONTENTS



2 Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Ms. Xie Yinuo
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Shang
Mr. Lau Shu Yan
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Shu Pai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Xie Yinuo
Mr. Li Shu Pai

AUDITOR

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Cheung Tong & Rosa Solicitors

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, 
Bermuda

WEBSITE

www.perfectech.com.hk

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL 
PLACE OF BUSINESS

Units C & D, 9/F, Sing Teck Factory Building, 
44 Wong Chuk Hang Road,
Aberdeen, 
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking  
Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited 
The Belvedere Building,
69 Pitts Bay Road, 
Pembroke HM08, 
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE 
REGISTRAR

Tricor Standard Limited 
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong



3Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company (the “Directors”, each a “Director”) has resolved to announce 
the audited consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2017. Total revenue for the year amounted to 
approximately HK$186,789,000 (2016: HK$237,069,000), representing a decrease of about 21%. The net loss for 
the year attributable to owners of the Company stood at approximately HK$11,408,000 (2016: profit of 
HK$23,272,000). Basic loss per share was approximately 3.49 HK cents (2016: earnings of 7.14 HK cents).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining the eligibility of shareholders to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting (“AGM”), the register of members of the Company will be closed from 25 May 2018, Friday, to 1 June 
2018, Friday (both dates inclusive). During the closure period, no share transfer will be registered. In order to be 
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong at Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2018, Thursday.

BUSINESS REVIEW

As stated above, the revenue of the Group decreased by about 21%, details of the performance of the two segments 
are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. As the increment of interest rate of the US Dollar was 
not as high as expected, Renminbi rebounded continuously and gradually during the year. It increased the costs 
of production in the PRC to a certain level.

For the year of 2017, there was neither gain nor loss from investments (2016: gain of HK$5,708,000) as the Group 
had disposed all held-for-trading investments in 2016.

Besides, administrative expenses increased by about 25% to approximately HK$53,274,000 (2016: HK$42,680,000). 
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in staff costs of approximately HK$12 million which, amongst 
others, included an amount of approximately HK$3.8 million compensation paid to employees for relocation of 
production plant, while legal and professional fee expenses decreased by about 48% to approximately HK$1.9 
million (2016: HK$3.7 million) as there was no legal and professional fee on take-over advice incurred in 2017. On 
the other hand, distribution costs decreased slightly by about 11% to HK$3,681,000 (2016: HK$4,132,000).

Finance costs decreased by about 94% to approximately HK$35,000 (2016: HK$575,000) as the Group has repaid 
all loans outstanding by early 2017.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FUTURE PLAN & PROSPECT

In 2018, we expect that the global economy will continue to grow. However, there are still many uncertainties and 
risks, such as the potential trade war among China and United States of America, nuclearisation of North Korea 
and increase in interest rate. We will bear in mind these risks and manage the risks through diversification and 
prudent cashflow management. We will continue to consolidate our principal business, increase products portfolio 
and upgrade product to satisfy the needs of customers and increase the market share.

In the meantime, the Group will continue to identify good investment opportunities, which can contribute revenue 
immediately and create additional value through the synergy effect to the Group.

With the joint efforts of all of its employees, the Group endeavors to work well with its customers, business partners 
and shareholders to maximise its corporate value and deliver promising returns to its shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank all my fellow Directors and the staff for their contribution and 
cordial support during the year under review.

On behalf of the Board

Gao Xiaorui 
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEGMENTAL RESULTS

Novelties and decoration

The revenue of this segment for the year under review showed a further decrease of about 24% to approximately 
HK$17,503,000 (2016: HK$23,139,000), and the segment recorded a loss before interests and tax of approximately 
HK$5,872,000 (2016: HK$7,332,000).

Toy products

The revenue of this segment decreased substantially by about 21% to approximately HK$169,286,000 (2016: 
HK$213,930,000), and the segment result therefrom also decreased by about 85% to approximately HK$6,839,000 
(2016: HK$46,989,000). The performance of this segment worsen because of decrease in revenue for the decrease 
in demand of the products it manufactured for its ultimate customer and incurrence of compensation paid to 
employees of approximately HK$3.8 million for the relocation of production plant.

Investments

To well utilise the available cash on hand, the Group might invest in the securities of various listed companies, 
which were held for trading purposes for capital gain in the value of the securities. As at 31 December 2017, the 
market value of held for trading investments was nil (2016: nil).

In addition, the Group may utilise its cash on hand by investing in other types of investment with a view to enhancing 
the return to the shareholders. However, that must be carried out in accordance with the Company’s treasury 
policies on investment transactions, details of which are posted on the Company’s website, www.perfectech.com.hk.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group’s sales and purchases are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar and US Dollar. As all of its factories 
are located in the PRC, expenses incurred there are denominated in Renminbi.

Since Hong Kong Dollar remains pegged to US Dollar, the Group does not foresee a substantial exposure in this 
area, and will closely monitor the trend of Renminbi to see if any action is required.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had not entered into any financial instrument for the hedging of foreign 
currency.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2017, there were no long-term finance lease obligations and bank loans (2016: nil) nor 
short-term bank borrowings (2016: HK$23,089,000) of the Group, and none of the Group’s plant and machinery 
(2016: HK$nil) was held under a finance lease. The gearing ratio of the Group, measured by total bank and other 
borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company, was nil (2016: 11%). As at 31 December 
2017, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately HK$103,498,000 (2016: HK$93,136,000).

With cash and other current assets as at 31 December 2017 of HK$144,105,000 (2016: HK$190,523,000) as well 
as available banking facilities, the Group had sufficient financial resources to satisfy its commitments and working 
capital requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net asset value

The net asset value per share as at 31 December 2017 was approximately HK$0.60 (2016: HK$0.63), calculated 
based on equity attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$196,579,000 (2016: HK$206,643,000) divided 
by the actual number of shares in issue on that date of 326,923,607 (2016: 326,923,607).

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed approximately 832 (2016: 1,110) full time employees. The Group 
remunerates its employees largely based on prevailing industry practice as well as individual merits. The Group 
has also established a share option scheme for its full time employees.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Xie Yinuo (Ms. Xie), aged 30, became an executive director of the Company on 28 November 2016. She is 
responsible for the overall corporate and business development, and all day-to-day management and operation of 
the Group. She has extensive experience in the business development, investment and management in cultural 
industry. She is a founding director of Beijing Xuanru Art Investment Management Co. Ltd. (北京玄如藝術投資管理
有限公司) and Beijing Tianchen Times Culture and Arts Development Co. Ltd. (北京天辰時代文化藝術發展有限公
司), which operate art investment and trading platforms in the PRC. Ms. Xie graduated from Peking University, 
China with a bachelor’s degree in arts majoring in Arabic language.

Ms. Xie has not entered into a service contract with the Company and has no specific or proposed length of service 
with the Company.

Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert (Mr. A. Poon), aged 34, graduated from the University of Nottingham, United Kingdom 
with a bachelor’s degree of Engineering in Civil Engineering and a master of science degree in Management from 
the Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine in the United Kingdom. Mr. A. Poon has over five years’ 
experience in corporate finance and is responsible for the investment activities and corporate finance function of 
the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 2011, he worked for the corporate finance division of a licensed corporation 
registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) in Hong Kong and has been involved in several 
corporate finance transactions including mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganization, takeover matters and 
a variety of fund raising exercises. Also, Mr. A. Poon is an executive director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. 
Mr. A. Poon is a son of Mr. Poon Siu Chung, the former chairman and managing director of the Company and 
Ms. Lau Kwai Ngor, a former substantial shareholder of the Company, and is the younger brother of Dr. Poon Wai 
Tsun, William, a former executive director of the Company.

Mr. A. Poon has entered into a service contract with the Company which shall continue to be effective unless 
terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other or payment in lieu.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Mr. Gao), aged 37, became the non-executive director of the Company on 28 November 2016. 
He is the chairman of the Company and also the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Gao 
is responsible for strategic development of the Group and provides leadership for the Board. He is also the sole 
director of Fresh Choice Holdings Limited (which is a substantial shareholder of the Company). He has over 10 
years of experience in the investment and accounting fields. Mr. Gao graduated from Communication University of 
China with a bachelor’s degree in accounting. As at the date of this report, Mr. Gao, through his holding of 90% 
interest in the issued shares of Fresh Choice Holdings Limited, is interested in 119,297,041 shares of the Company, 
representing approximately 36.49% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Gao has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commenced from 28 
November 2016.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shang (Mr. Zhang), aged 31, became an independent non-executive director of the Company on 28 
November 2016. He is the chairman of Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and 
Nomination Committee of the Company. He is currently a director of Strait Cooperation Fund (海峽共同合作基金), 
in charge of investment activities. Prior to that, he was the head of research of Grand Finance Group. Mr. Zhang 
graduated from Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in engineering and has obtained a 
master of business administration degree from Tsinghua University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commenced from 28 
November 2016.

Mr. Lau Shu Yan (Mr. Lau), aged 36, became an independent non-executive director of the Company on 28 
November 2016. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of Remuneration Committee of the 
Company. He has over 10 years of experience in finance, auditing and accounting fields. Mr. Lau had previously 
worked in an international accounting firm and he is currently a partner of an audit firm. He is currently an 
independent non-executive director of Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited (formerly known as Pan Asia Mining 
Limited) (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8173)), Daohe Global Group Limited 
(the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 915)), and 深圳市明華澳漢科技股份有限公司 
(Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation Limited) (the shares of which are listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 8301)), and was an independent non-executive director of Evershine Group Holdings Limited 
(formerly known as TLT Lottotainment Group Limited) (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 8022)) for the period from 11 July 2012 to 16 January 2014. Mr. Lau graduated from the University of 
Newcastle upon Tyne, the United Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree in arts majoring in accounting and financial 
analysis. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Lau has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commenced from 28 
November 2016.

Mr. Xie Xiaohong (Mr. Xie), aged 47, became an independent non-executive director of the Company on 28 
November 2016. He is the member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee 
of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience in providing business solutions and consulting services to 
banking, finance and telecommunication industries. Mr. Xie is a senior business consultant at Bank of Nova Scotia, 
Canada currently, providing business solution and consulting services to private and institutional wealth management 
businesses. Between 2011 and 2012, he was a business systems analyst at Investment Industry Regulatory 
Organization of Canada, and was responsible for market surveillances support on over 10 security exchange markets 
of Canada. Mr. Xie graduated from Peking University, China with a bachelor’s degree of technical physics majoring 
in nuclear physics, and he has also obtained a master’s degree of applied science majoring in systems design 
engineering from the University of Waterloo, Canada.

Mr. Xie has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commenced from 28 
November 2016.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Shu Pai (Mr. Li), aged 41, is the Group’s chief financial officer and company secretary. He is responsible 
for the overall financial operation and company secretary function of the Group. Mr. Li has over 14 years of 
experience in auditing, corporate finance and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li was the chief 
financial officer and joint company secretary of Chutian Dragon Corporation Limited. Before that, Mr. Li served as 
the chief financial officer in R2Game Co., Limited and earlier the deputy chief financial officer in Beijing Tong Ren 
Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (Stock Code: 8138). In addition, Mr. Li had worked for an international 
audit firm and various investment banks. Mr. Li graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s 
degree in business administration and obtained his executive master of business and administration degree from 
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Besides, he is a 
member of Council of Hong Kong Youth Chief Officers Association.

Mr. Li has entered into a service contract with the Company which shall continue to be effective unless terminated 
by one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other or payment in lieu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board is committed to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by improving corporate 
transparency through effective channels of information disclosure. The Board believes that good corporate 
governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful relations with its employees, business partners, 
shareholders and investors.

On 29 August 2013, the Company has adopted a corporate governance code prepared based on the code provisions 
(the “Code Provisions”) of the latest revised code on corporate governance (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) 
as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Company, and has taken steps to comply with the Code wherever 
appropriate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has complied with the Code Provisions save for the 
following deviations:

Under Code Provision D.1.4, all directors should clearly understand delegation arrangements in place, and 
the Company should have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and 
conditions of their appointment.

The Company had no formal letter of appointment for Ms. Xie Yinuo at the time of her appointment. It was because 
the management of the Company is of the view that the Director clearly understand the appointment arrangement 
in place. Also, all Directors, including those without a letter of appointment, shall be subject to retirement by rotation 
in the manner prescribed under the bye-laws of the Company and on re-election of the retiring Directors, 
shareholders are given information that is reasonably necessary for them to make an informed decision on the 
reappointment of the relevant Directors. Besides, all Directors are required to comply with the requirements under 
statutes and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business 
and governance policies. In this regard, the Company is of the view that such requirements are sufficient to meet 
the underlying objectives of the relevant code provision.

DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board, led by the Chairman, steers the Company’s business direction. It is responsible for formulating the 
Company’s long-term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing results of management policies, 
monitoring the management’s performance and ensuring effective implementation of risk management measures 
on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group’s financial and operational performance and to discuss and 
formulate future development plans. Regular Board meetings are attended by a majority of the Directors in person 
or through other electronic means of communication.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Composition

There are 6 Directors, all being industry veterans, responsible to the shareholders for formulating the overall 
business development targets and long-term company strategies, assessing results of management policies and 
monitoring performance of the management. The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Ms. Xie Yinuo
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert

Non-executive Director
Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang
Mr. Lau Shu Yan
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

An updated list of the Directors by category identifying their roles is at all times available on the websites of the 
Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether the Director is an independent non-executive Director 
and expresses the respective roles of each Director.

The Company identifies the independent non-executive Directors in all corporate communications which disclose 
the names of Directors.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 7 to 8 of this annual report.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships) among 
members of the Board.

The independent non-executive Directors play an important role on the Board. Accounting for a half of the Board 
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective fields and among the independent non-executive 
Directors, at least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting 
as well as providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the interest of shareholders of the Company 
and the Group as a whole.

Throughout the year of 2017, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the 
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The number of independent 
non-executive Directors has represented at least one-third of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend in 2017

During the year of 2017, the Board held 4 regular meetings at about quarterly intervals and 5 additional special 
meetings. As regards general meetings, the Company held the annual general meeting on 1 June 2017.

Attendance of individual Directors at the Board meetings and general meeting in 2017 is as follows:

Regular Board 
Meetings

Special Board 
Meetings

General 
Meeting

Executive Directors
Ms. Xie Yinuo 4/4 5/5 1/1
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert 4/4 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman) 4/4 5/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang 4/4 5/5 1/1
Mr. Lau Shu Yan 4/4 5/5 1/1
Mr. Xie Xiaohong 4/4 5/5 1/1

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting while reasonable 
notice is generally given for other Board meetings.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors 
in a timely manner, and at least 3 days before the intended date of each Board or committee meeting, except 
agreed otherwise among the members, to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the board papers and be 
adequately prepared for the meeting, to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position 
of the Company and to enable them to include any matter in the agenda and to make informed decisions.

The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have access to independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances to assist them in performing their duties to the Company, at the Company’s expense.

Minutes of all Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Remuneration Committee meetings and Nomination 
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. All of the above minutes record the discussions and 
decisions reached by the relevant members in sufficient detail regarding the matters considered including any 
concern raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Any Director may inspect the minutes at any reasonable 
time on reasonable notice.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of the relevant committee for comment within a 
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is sent to all Directors or committee members for their 
record.

According to the current Board practice, any transaction, which the Board has determined to be material, which 
involves a conflict of interests between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the Company, will be considered 
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the independent non-executive 
Directors who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the said transaction rather than a written 
resolution. Directors are abstained from voting and not counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions 
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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The Company has maintained appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers 
arising out of corporate activities.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Gao Xiaorui is the Chairman of the Company. Although the Company does not have the position of chief 
executive officer, the executive Directors, Ms. Xie Yinuo and Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert have assumed roles of chief 
executive officer.

In accordance with the Directors’ Memorandum in Discharging Directors’ Duties adopted by the Company on 27 
March 2012 (the “Memorandum”), the Company’s Chairman is responsible for:

• overseeing the development of the long-term strategies, objectives and policies for the Company;

• ensuring all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be discussed at Board meetings;

• ensuring all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete and reliable information in a timely manner;

• providing leadership for the Board;

• ensuring that the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities;

• ensuring that agenda for Board meetings are drawn up and approve them, taking into account any matters 
proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda;

• taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate practices and procedures are in place;

• encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to 
ensure that it acts in the best interests of the Company;

• encouraging Directors with different views to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues 
and ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

• ensuring appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communications with shareholders and that views 
of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole;

• promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive Directors 
in particular and ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors;

• attending the annual general meeting and arranging for the chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee (as appropriate) or in the absence of the chairman of such committees, 
another member of the committee or failing this his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer 
questions at the annual general meeting;

• holding meetings at least annually with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive 
Directors) without the executive Directors present;

• deciding whether a resolution at a general meeting relating purely to a procedural or administrative matter 
should be excluded from the requirement for voting by poll.
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Appointments, re-election and removal

Under Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws and Code Provision A.4.2, every Director, including those appointed 
for a specific term shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at least once every 
three years while those retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Under Bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s 
Bye-laws and Code Provision A.4.2, all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election 
by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

In accordance with the said provision of the Bye-laws and Code Provision A.4.1 and A.4.2, in the annual general 
meeting held on 1 June 2017, all Directors appointed before such annual general meeting to fill a casual vacancy 
(namely Ms. Xie Yinuo, Mr. Gao Xiaorui, Mr. Zhang Shang, Mr. Lau Shu Yan and Mr. Xie Xiaohong) were elected, 
subject to terms agreed otherwise which expire earlier and rotation, removal, vacation or termination of their offices 
as Directors as set out in the Bye-laws or the disqualification to act as a Director under the Bye-laws, the laws of 
Bermuda and the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received a written confirmation from each independent 
non-executive Director of his independence to the Company. The Company has assessed the independence and 
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors independent based on the independence criteria in 
accordance with the requirements in Listing Rules, their non-involvement in the daily operation and management 
of the Group and the absence of any relationships which will interfere with the exercise of their independent 
judgement.

Non-executive Directors

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election.

The term of appointment of the non-executive Director is 3 years. The term of appointment of each of the 
independent non-executive Directors is 3 years.

Nomination of Directors

On 27 March 2012, the Board has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) pursuant to 
the requirements of the revised Code, to provide a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high 
quality Directors who should have the capacity and ability to lead the Company towards achieving sustainable 
development. It considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment or re-appointment of Director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-section headed “Nomination Committee” below.
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Responsibilities of Directors

The Board views that the non-executive Directors are well-aware of their functions and have been actively performing 
their functions including but not limited to exercising their independent judgement at the Board Meetings, taking 
the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise, scrutinizing the Company’s performance and providing 
independent, constructive and informed advice on the business strategy, policy, performance and management of 
the Company. They regularly review the financial information, monitor the operational performance of the Company 
and serve on the Board committees of the Company.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment, and in a timely manner for any 
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations and other significant 
commitments. They have also informed the Company of the identity of other public companies or organizations 
they serve and the time involved in these public companies or organizations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge 
and expertise in the areas and operation in which they are charged with. The contribution made by the Directors 
to the affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality of the attention and the ability of the 
Directors with reference to his necessary knowledge and expertise. The satisfactory attendance of Board meetings, 
general meetings and Board committee meetings indicates the constant participation of all Directors, including 
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive and ensures the better understanding of the views of 
shareholders by all Directors. The extent of participation and contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and 
qualitatively.

The Board and the Board committees are supplied with adequate, complete and reliable information by the 
management in a timely manner which enables them to make informed decisions.

To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary to obtain additional information other than that 
is provided by the management, the Directors made inquiries where necessary. The Board and the Directors have 
separate and independent access to the senior management.

All Directors have access to Board papers and related materials in a form and quality sufficient to enable the Board 
to make informed decisions on matters placed before it. The queries raised by Directors have received a prompt 
and full response.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, and the business and market changes 
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board meetings, resolutions, memos and Board 
papers. According to the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received the following training with an 
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the requirement 
of the Code on continuous professional development during the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017:

Corporate Governance/Updates 
on Laws, Rules and Regulation

Read materials

Attend 
seminars/
briefings

Directors

Executive Directors
Ms. Xie Yinuo ✓ —
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert ✓ —

Non-executive Director
Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman) ✓ —

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang ✓ —
Mr. Lau Shu Yan ✓ —
Mr. Xie Xiaohong ✓ —

Securities Transactions Guidelines

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transaction on terms no less exacting 
than the required standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31 
December 2017, they complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of 
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Directors’ interests in shares and options of the Company as at 31 December 2017 are set out on page 31 
of this annual report.

The Board has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant 
employees, including any employee of the Company or a Director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company 
of the Company who, because of his office or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information in 
relation to the issuer or its securities, in respect of their dealings in the Company’s securities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for formulating strategies and business plans for the Group and is collectively responsible 
for its success.

Management Functions

For aspects of management and administration functions delegated to the management, the Board has given clear 
directions as to the management’s power, particularly as to where management should report back and obtain prior 
Board approval.

The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management have been formalized and are reviewed 
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company. The Board has adopted the 
Memorandum setting out its delegation policy. The segregation of duties and responsibilities between the Board 
and the management has been clearly defined and provided as internal guidelines of the Company.

The Board has delegated decisions in relation to daily operation and administration responsibilities to management. 
The Memorandum has also set out a set of principles which the Board should adhere to when it delegates authority.

In accordance with the Memorandum, the types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board include those 
relating to:

• corporate and capital structure;

• corporate strategy;

• significant policies affecting the Company as a whole;

• business plan, budgets and public announcements;

• delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by Board committees;

• key financial matters;

• appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members, senior management and auditors;

• remuneration of Directors and senior management;

• communication with key stakeholders, including shareholders and regulatory bodies;

• policies and practices on corporate governance;

• training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management;

• Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements (including the Corporate 
Governance Code) and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

• code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors.

During the year, the Board reviewed and/or monitored the aforesaid areas.
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The types of decisions that the Board has delegated to the management include:

• approving the extension of the Group’s activities not in a material manner into a new geographic location or 
a new business;

• approving assessing and monitoring the performance of all business units and ensuring that all necessary 
corrective actions have been taken;

• approving expenses up to a certain limit;

• approving the entering into of any connected transactions not requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules;

• approving the nomination and appointment of personnels other than the member of the Board, senior 
management and auditors;

• approving press release concerning matters decided by the Board;

• approving any matters related to routine matters or day-to-day operation of the Group (including the entering 
into of any transaction not requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules and cessation of non-material part of 
the Group’s business); and

• carrying out any other duties as the Board may delegate from time to time.

Directors clearly understand the above delegation arrangements of the Company.

Board Committees

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to time to the Board committees in order to ensure the 
operational efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant expertise. All Board committees are provided 
with accurate and sufficient information in timely manner so as to enable the Board committees to make informed 
decisions for the benefit of the Company and sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

In 2017, the Board had 3 Board committees, which are the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, and 
Nomination Committee, all with specific terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.

Attendance of the relevant members of the Board committee at the meetings of the committees in 2017 is as 
follows:

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

Meetings

Executive Directors
Ms. Xie Yinuo N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Director
Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman) N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Lau Shu Yan 2/2 1/1 N/A
Mr. Xie Xiaohong 2/2 1/1 1/1
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Nomination Committee

On 27 March 2012, the Board has established the Nomination Committee pursuant to the requirements of the 
revised Code, to provide a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high quality Directors who 
should have the capacity and ability to lead the Company towards achieving sustainable development. It considers 
matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The Committee comprises 1 
non-executive Director and 2 independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Gao Xiaorui 
 (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which were revised on 29 August 2013 and are 
closely aligned with the relevant Code Provisions requirements. They are available at both the Company’s website 
www.perfectech.com.hk and HKEx’s website www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

• review and supervise the structure, size and composition of the Board;

• identify qualified individuals to become members of the Board;

• assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

• make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and succession planning of Directors, 
and any proposed change to the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has conducted the following tasks:

• reviewing the policy for the nomination of Directors;

• reviewing the nomination procedures and process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select 
and recommend candidates for directorship during the year;

• reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

• making recommendations to the Board regarding proposed changes to implement the Company’s corporate 
strategy;

• assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

• assessing the time required from a Director to perform his responsibilities; and

• reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company, adopted by the Board on 29 August 2013 (the “Board 
Diversity Policy”) including the measurable objectives that it has set for implementing the policy and the 
progress on achieving those objectives.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the following procedure and criteria for nomination of Directors:

1. When there is a vacancy in the Board, the Board evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience 
of the Board, and identifies any special requirements for the vacancy (e.g. independence status in the case 
of an independent non-executive Director).

2. Prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for the particular vacancy.

3. Identify a list of candidates through personal contacts/recommendations by Board members, senior 
management, business partners or investors.

4. Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the Board to evaluate whether he/she meets the established 
written criteria for nomination of Directors. One or more members of the Board will attend the interview.

5. Conduct verification on information provided by the candidate.

6. Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee adopted the following criteria for nomination of Directors:

1. Common Criteria for All Directors

(a) Character and integrity

(b) The willingness to assume broad fiduciary responsibility

(c) Present needs of the Board for particular experience or expertise and whether the candidate would 
satisfy those needs

(d) Relevant experience, including experience at the strategy/policy setting level, high level managerial 
experience in a complex organization, industry experience and familiarity with the products and 
processes used by the Company

(e) Significant business or public experience relevant and beneficial to the Board and the Company

(f) Breadth of knowledge about issues affecting the Company

(g) Ability to objectively analyse complex business problems and exercise sound business judgement

(h) Ability and willingness to contribute special competencies to Board activities

(i) Fit with the Company’s culture
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2. Criteria Applicable to non-executive Directors/independent non-executive Directors

(a) Willingness and ability to make a sufficient time commitment to the affairs of the Company in order to 
effectively perform the duties of a Director, including attendance at and active participation in Board 
and committee meetings

(b) Accomplishments of the candidate in his/her field

(c) Outstanding professional and personal reputation

(d) The candidate’s ability to meet the independence criteria for Directors established in the Listing Rules

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain diversity 
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its 
performance, and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment 
of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Board has set measurable objectives based on a range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length 
of service to select candidates. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure the effectiveness of the 
same. It will discuss revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for 
consideration and approval. It will also monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company considers that the current composition of the Board is characterised by diversity after taking into 
account its own business model and specific needs, and professional background and skills of the Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

Remuneration of Directors

The Remuneration Committee was established pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It makes recommendations 
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management, and 
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which were adopted by the Board on 27 March 
2012 pursuant to the revised Code. The terms of reference are made available on the Company’s website www.
perfectech.com.hk and HKEx’s website www.hkex.com.hk.

The Committee comprises 3 members, namely:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Shang 
 (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Lau Shu Yan
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

During 2017, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting was held. All members of the Remuneration Committee attended 
the meeting.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during 2017 included the followings:

• making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of Directors and senior 
management;

• assessing performance of executive Directors;

• approving specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management;

• making recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and

• conducting the salary review of the Group for 2017.
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Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

The Company adopts different emolument policies for executive Directors and non-executive Directors:

Emolument Policy for Executive Directors

1. A proportion of executive Directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and 
individual performance.

2. The performance-related elements of remuneration should form a significant proportion of the total remuneration 
package of executive Directors.

3. The performance-related elements of remuneration should be designed to align the executive Directors’ 
interests with those of shareholders and to give the Directors keen incentives to perform at the highest levels.

4. Factors for defining performance-based remuneration:

(a) Eligibility for annual bonuses and any upper limits

(b) Annual bonuses should be linked to relevant performance indicators designed to enhance the Company’s 
business

(c) Eligibility for long-term incentive schemes, e.g. share option schemes, subject to performance criteria 
which reflect the Company’s performance

(d) Examples of performance indicators:

(i) share price

(ii) net earnings figure

Emolument Policy for Non-executive Directors

1. Levels of emolument of non-executive Directors should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of 
the role.

2. Non-executive Directors should have the opportunity to have part of their remuneration in shares on condition 
that share options should be granted in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Principles of Long-Term Incentive Schemes

1. The purpose is to reward exceptional performance, and awards should be scaled against achievement of 
performance criteria.

2. The link between executive reward and company performance should be strong and clear.

3. Grants under such schemes should be phased rather than awarded in one large block.

The emolument payable to the Directors is determined with reference to their qualification and experience, 
responsibilities undertaken, contribution to the Group, and the prevailing market level of remuneration of similar 
positions. The details of the fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable to the Directors are set out 
in note 10 to the financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities in ensuring 
effective and adequate systems are in place for risk management and internal controls and for meeting its external 
financial reporting obligations and compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee 
also reviews and monitors the scope and effectiveness of the work of external auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises the following members, namely:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Shu Yan 
 (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Zhang Shang
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

Mr. Lau Shu Yan have professional qualifications in accounting.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 August 
2015 pursuant to the revised Code. The terms of reference are made available on the Company’s website www.
perfectech.com.hk and HKEx’s website www.hkex.com.hk.

During year 2017, the Audit Committee met 2 times. The attendance of the members thereat is included in the 
table set out above on page 17 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee meetings are normally attended by the Company’s chief financial officer, financial controller, 
independent internal auditor and the external auditor, for discussion of the audit of the Company’s annual results 
only. The internal auditor are often present on discussion of the audit of internal controls and risks assessment. 
While the external auditors are often present on discussion of the audit of financial results and audit planning.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during 2017 included consideration of the following matters:

• the completeness and accuracy of the 2016 annual and 2017 interim financial statements;

• the Company’s compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements; developments in accounting standards 
and the effect on the Company;

• detailed analysis of various aspects of the Company’s financial performance;

• investment policies and possible impact of certain investment transactions;

• the audit fees payable to external auditors, the scope and timetable of the audit for year 2017;

• recommendations to the Board, for the approval by shareholders, for the reappointment of Messrs. HLM CPA 
Limited as the external auditors;

• reviewed and discussed with the independent internal auditor and management the internal control and risk 
management systems; and

• reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function.
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The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek independent professional advice at the expense of the 
Company wherever necessary. The Committee is also supported by the external auditor.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in annual and interim reports, inside 
information announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory 
requirements.

The Board is responsible for the integrity of the financial information of the Group. The Directors have acknowledged 
their responsibility for the preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of 
the Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 36 to 41 of this annual report.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is appropriate to prepare the financial 
statements set out on pages 42 to 102 of this annual report on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the longer term and the strategy for delivering 
its objectives are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5 to 6 of this annual 
report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation and information, such as the Group’s major business 
activities and key financial information, to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial 
information and position of the Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a 
whole and each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

During the year, the Group has established and maintained an appropriate and effective risk management and 
internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, 
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis.

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated with its business and operations. 
The system comprises the following phases:

• Identification: the management would identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that could 
affect the achievement of objectives by examining reports on risk management, internal control and procedures 
in place submitted by various factories of the Group from time to time, and would inform the Audit Committee 
and the Board if any significant risks are discovered; the internal audit function of the Company would also 
conduct risk assessments of the Group and report to the Board via Audit Committee if significant risks are 
identified;
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• Evaluation: the Audit Committee would analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio 
accordingly, having considered the opinions of the internal audit function of the Company and the management 
(if any); and

• Management: the Audit Committee would consider the risk responses, and ensure effective communication 
to the Board regarding the risks identified and the corresponding remedial plans and recommendations, and 
the Board via the Audit Committee would on an on-going basis monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2017, no significant risk was identified.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve 
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

• Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that provide the basis for carrying out 
internal control across the Group;

• Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s 
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed;

• Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management directives 
to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out;

• Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to provide the Group with the information 
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

• Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each components of internal control is 
present and functioning.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2017, no significant control deficiency was identified.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling and disseminating inside information, and to ensure the 
truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements 
inside information procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that 
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

• the access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees 
who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality;

• confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations; and

• the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the Company when communicating 
with external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise 
(such as Certified Public Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and carries 
out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests 
of operating effectiveness.
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An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established plan, review of the risk management 
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit Committee 
afterwards. Such review has been conducted for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the Group 
and ensures review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted. Such systems, however, are 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Regarding the review of the risk management and internal control systems, apart from the works of the IA function, 
the management also examine reports on risk management, internal control and procedures in place submitted by 
various factories of the Group from time to time, and would inform the Board if any major internal control failings 
or weaknesses were discovered. External auditors would also report on the weakness in the Group’s internal control 
and accounting procedure which have come to their attention during the course of audit.

Both the Audit Committee and the Board will review the Company’s internal control and risk management systems 
at least annually and such review has been conducted for the year ended 31 December 2017 having taken into 
account the results of the review conducted by the IA function, and the information from the management and the 
external auditors (if any).

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, has not identified any 
significant areas of concern, risks or major internal control failings or weaknesses, and concluded that the risk 
management and internal control systems were effective and adequate. It is also considered that the resources, 
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget provided 
were sufficient.

In any event, in case any material internal control defects are identified, the Audit Committee will review the actions 
performed or the plans to be carried out by the management in addressing the issues and defects regarding the 
internal control and risk management systems. The corresponding remedial plans and recommendations to resolve 
such defects will then be submitted to the Board for consideration.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Company’ external auditor is HLM CPA Limited. For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services 
provided by the auditors is roughly as follows:

Services Rendered
Fees Paid/

Payable
HK$’000

Audit services HK$1,075
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Li Shu Pai, who is also the chief financial officer of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board and reports to the Chairman from time to time. All Directors 
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all 
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is required to take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year 
2017. Mr. Li Shu Pai fulfilled the requirement during the year under review.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group values and strives to provide comprehensive and timely communications to its stakeholders, including 
its shareholders.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best opportunity for communication between the Board and the 
shareholders. The Company complied with the required notice periods for general meetings under the applicable 
laws, rules and regulations.

The Chairman of the Board and chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Audit 
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective committees and, where applicable, the independent 
Board committee, were available to answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

Voting by Poll

The Company expresses in each relevant corporate communication that the shareholders shall vote by poll so as 
to allow the shareholders to have one vote for every share of the Company held. The chairman of the meeting 
would explain the voting procedure and answer any questions from the shareholders regarding voting in poll in the 
general meetings. The poll voting results of the general meetings were published on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company respectively on the same day after the general meetings.

Shareholders’ Rights to Convene a Special General Meeting

Further to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and under Bye-Law 62 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, a special 
general meeting can be convened on requisition.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

Based on the requirement of revised Code, a Shareholders Communication Policy was formulated and adopted on 
27 March 2012 in order to ensure the shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced 
and understandable information about the Company. The Board has taken appropriate steps to provide effective 
communication with shareholders. The effectiveness of shareholders communication under the said policy had been 
reviewed by the Board at the board meeting held on 29 March 2017.

The most recent shareholders’ meeting was the annual general meeting held on 1 June 2017 at 2401–2, Admiralty 
Centre 1, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong to discuss and approve the following matters:

• considering and receiving the consolidated financial statements and reports of the Directors and auditors for 
the year ended 31 December 2016;
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• electing certain Directors and authorizing the Board to fix their remunerations;

• appointing the Company’s external auditor and authorizing the Board to fix their remunerations;

• passing a general mandate to allow the Directors to allot and issue shares of the Company (“General 
Mandate”);

• passing a repurchase mandate to allow the Directors to repurchase shares of the Company (“Repurchase 
Mandate”); and

• passing a general extension mandate to allow the Directors, after the grant of Repurchase Mandate, to add 
to the General Mandate any shares repurchased pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate (the “General Extension 
Mandate”).

Constitutional Documents

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to maintain the highest level of corporate transparency. 
The timely disclosure of relevant corporate information includes annual and interim reports, statutory announcements, 
corporate presentation and press releases are available on the Company’s website http://www.perfectech.com.hk.

Enquiries and proposals to be put forward at shareholders’ meetings can also be sent to the Board or senior 
management by contacting the Investment Department at (852) 39650088, via e-mail to info@perfectech.com.hk, 
or directly through the questions and answers session at shareholders’ meetings.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their annual report (the “Report of the Directors”) and the audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 33 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the activities during the year ended 31 December 2017 including, a fair review of the business of the 
Group with financial performance indicators, including revenue, (loss) profit for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company, (loss) earnings per share, gearing ratio and net asset value per share, and an indication of likely 
future development in the Group’s business are explained in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 3 to 6 of this annual report. The above financial performance indicators 
reflect the Group’s profitability, value and liquidity as well as how the Group finance its operations and build its 
capital structures.

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects would be affected by a number 
of risks and uncertainties including foreign currency risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies 
and practices of the Group are shown in note 31 to the financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees 
and other stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and 
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers, employees and/or other stakeholders.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 42 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders during the year. The directors of the Company do not recommend 
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group in aggregate accounted for approximately 94% of the total 
revenue of the Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 86% of the total revenues of the 
Group. The Group has business relationship with its largest customer and most of the major customers for more 
than 10 years. For the credit period granted to the customers, please refer to note 17 to financial statements. The 
material payment from the customers has been settled within the credit time frame.

The five largest suppliers of the Group in aggregate accounted for approximately 39% of the total purchases of 
the Group and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 11% of the total purchases of the Group. The 
Group has had a business relationship with its largest supplier and most of the major suppliers for more than 10 
years. For the credit period granted by the suppliers, please refer to note 20 to financial statements. The material 
payables are paid within the credit time frame.
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At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company and to the 
best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company have an 
interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group continued its replacement policy and expended approximately HK$4,833,000 on property, plant and 
equipment during the year.

Details of the above and other movements during the year in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are 
set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No shares of the Company were issued during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time), amounted to approximately 
HK$15,180,000. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of approximately HK$118,895,000, 
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Xie Yinuo
Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert

Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Xiaorui (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Shu Yan
Mr. Zhang Shang
Mr. Xie Xiaohong

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the new Bye-Laws and the Code on Corporate Governance of the Company, 
every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the annual 
general meeting at least once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of 
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

All independent non-executive Directors had been/have been appointed for a term of approximately three years.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 
Company and its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 
571) (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Director Capacity
No. of 

shares held

No. of 
underlying 

shares held 
under equity 

derivatives Total

% of issued 
share capital of 

the Company 
(approximately)

Mr. Gao Xiaorui Interest of controlled corporation 119,297,041 — 119,297,041 (a) 36.49

Note: (a)  Fresh Choice Holdings Limited is a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands owned as to 90% by Mr. Gao Xiaorui, a 
non-executive Director, and 10% by Mr. Wu Zhenlong.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors, nor their associates, had any interests or short positions in 
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in 
the SFO at 31 December 2017. 

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. All the 
Company’s share options were cancelled in 2016 and no share option had been granted, exercised, cancelled or 
lapsed during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share options disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, 
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, 
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS 
OF SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 5 December 2016, Perfectech International Limited, a member of the Group entered into a tenancy agreement 
with Mr. Poon Siu Chung, a former substantial shareholder and former director of the Company (who ceased to 
be a substantial shareholder and a director of the Company on 14 November 2016 and 28 November 2016 
respectively) and a current director of a member of subsidiaries of the Company, in relation to the premises at 
Nos. 34 and 35 of Xiazha Industrial Street, Jinding Town, Zhuhai, the People’s Republic of China, for a monthly 
rent of HK$10,000 for a period of three years commencing from 1 January 2017. The said premises are used by 
the Group as factories. The total rent payable by the Group for the premises for the full period of the tenancy 
under the aforesaid tenancy agreement will amount to HK$360,000. During the financial year ended 31 December 
2017, such transaction subsisted and the Group paid rent to Mr. Poon Siu Chung totalling HK$120,000 and disclosed 
as related party transaction as set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial statements. The transaction fell 
under the definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company complied with 
the disclosure requirements (if any) in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Other than as disclosed 
above, no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a 
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or 
at any time during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed above in the section “Directors’ Interests in Shares and Options”, as at 31 
December 2017, the register of substantial shareholders’ interests maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 
336 of the SFO showed that the following shareholders had notified the Company of their relevant interests in the 
issued shares of the Company as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Shareholder Capacity
No. of 

shares held

No. of 
underlying 

shares held 
under equity 

derivatives Total

% of issued 
share capital of 

the Company 
(approximately)

Mr. Zhai Jun Interest of controlled corporation 125,297,040 — 125,297,040 (1) 38.33

Star Fly Limited Beneficial owner 125,297,040 — 125,297,040 (1) 38.33

Fresh Choice Holdings  
Limited

Beneficial owner 119,297,041 — 119,297,041(2) 36.49

Notes:

1. Star Fly Limited is a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands wholly owned by Mr. Zhai Jun.

2. Fresh Choice Holdings Limited is a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands owned as to 90% by Mr. Gao Xiaorui, a non- 
executive Director and 10% by Mr. Wu Zhenlong.
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APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are 
independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, the Company has adopted throughout the year ended 31 
December 2017 the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (“Code”) set out in Appendix 
14 of the Listing Rules as its own corporate governance code.

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 9 to 28 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of its shares 
whether on the Stock Exchange or otherwise.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set by the Board and reviewed by the Remuneration 
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the Board and reviewed by the Remuneration 
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market 
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to its directors and eligible employees, details 
of the scheme is set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s new Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which 
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT OF THE SHARES

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement on 28 November 2016, upon the close of the voluntary conditional 
cash offers, 65,329,526 shares, representing approximately 19.98% of the then entire number of issued shares 
capital of the Company, were held by the public (as defined in the Listing Rules). Accordingly, the Company could 
not satisfy the minimum public float requirement as set out under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

The Stock Exchange granted a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) to the Company for an initial 
period of one month from 28 November 2016 to 28 December 2016 and the subsequent period from 28 December 
2016 to 28 January 2017. The public float of the Company was restored on 19 January 2017. The Company has 
maintained a sufficient public float since then up to the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the environment and communities in which it operates. Acting 
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding 
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and 
waste reduction. The Group also commits to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve 
the environment, it implements green office practices such as encouraging use of recycled paper for printing and 
copying, double-sided printing and copying, and switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances 
to reduce energy consumption.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company. 
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Our professional 
employees attend on-going professional development programs in order to keep them abreast of the latest 
development of the laws and regulations. External legal advisors are engaged to advise on the compliance matters 
if and when necessary. The Company complies with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact 
on the Company including the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, SFO and the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been audited by the Company’s auditor, 
Messrs. HLM CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants. HLM CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLM CPA Limited will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The annual results for the year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company, which is of the 
opinion that the preparation of such financial information complies with the applicable accounting standards, the 
requirements under the Listing Rules and any other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures 
have been made.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed above and in note 28 to the financial statements and the grant 
letters issued pursuant to the scheme, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing 
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing 
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 178 of the new Bye-Laws of the Company provides that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured 
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and 
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain 
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duties or supposed duty in 
their respective offices or trusts. The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance 
which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the Company and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout the year under review and is currently in force 
at the time of approval of this report.

On behalf of the Board

Xie Yinuo
Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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TO THE MEMBERS OF PERFECTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Perfectech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 102, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.



37Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS(Cont’d)

Valuation of investment property

Key audit matter

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit matter due to significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with significant judgement associated with determining the 
fair value. As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group held an investment property 
at HK$36,000,000. The fair value of the investment property was determined based on a valuation report of an 
independent professional property valuer which was reviewed and concluded by management. Increase in fair value 
of investment property of HK$3,300,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the year then ended.

Management has engaged an independent professional property valuer to perform the valuation of the investment 
property. The fair value of the investment property was determined based on Comparison Approach assuming sale 
in their existing states with the benefit of vacant possession and was made with reference to comparable sale 
evidences as available in the relevant market which was adopted by an independent professional property valuer 
and concluded by management. Appropriate adjustments have been made to account for the differences between 
the property and the comparables in terms of time, location, age, floor level, size and other relevant factors.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of investment property included:

• examining and reviewing the valuation report issued by the independent professional property valuer;

• evaluating the qualification, independence and objectivity of the independent professional property valuer; and

• obtaining an understanding from the independent professional property valuer and management about the 
valuation methodology, the performance of the property markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical 
judgement on key inputs and data used in the valuations and evaluating the valuation methodology used and 
the key estimates and key input adopted in the valuation are reasonable.

We found that the assumptions and key inputs used by the independent professional property valuer and 
management were reasonable by available evidence.
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Valuation of inventories

Key audit matter

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole. There is a significant degree of judgement by the management 
determining the net realisable value (“NRV”).

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, NRV represents the latest selling prices for 
inventories less all estimated costs to completion and costs necessary to make the sale. As disclosed in note 16 
to the consolidated financial statements, management’s estimation of the NRV was primarily based on the latest 
selling prices and current market conditions. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of inventories was 
HK$17,363,000. The management carried out a review of the inventories at the end of the reporting period and 
made allowance of HK$1,238,000 on obsolete and slow moving items to write down inventories to lower of cost 
or NRVs during the year ended 31 December 2017.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of the carrying value of the inventories included:

• testing the operating effectiveness of controls associated with the existence and conditions of inventories;

• reviewing how management estimated the NRVs of inventories and evaluating the historical accuracy of the 
allowance estimations made by management;

• discussing with management and assessing the bases of management’s estimations of subsequent selling 
price, costs to completion and costs necessary to make the sale;

• reviewing a list of obsolete and slow moving inventories and assessing the allowance made on obsolete and 
slow moving items; and

• verifying the value of a sample of inventories to confirm that the inventories were held at the lower of cost 
and NRV.

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations of management in relation to valuation of inventories 
were supportable by available evidence.



39Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS(Cont’d)

Valuation of trade receivables

Key audit matter

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the use of judgement and estimates 
in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables.

In determining the allowance for trade receivables, the management considered credit history, including default or 
delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent settlement and aging analysis of the trade receivables.

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of trade receivables was HK$16,040,000, net of allowance for doubtful 
debts of HK$4,524,000.

Details of the trade receivables are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to valuation on trade receivables included:

• testing the operating effectiveness of controls in determining the allowance for doubtful debts;

• understanding how allowance for doubtful debts is estimated by management and assessing the reasonableness 
of the methodology and assumptions used;

• reviewing the aging analysis of the trade receivables throughout the year to understand the settlement patterns 
of the customers;

• testing the accuracy of the aging analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, against the source 
documents;

• testing the subsequent settlement of trade receivables; and

• confirming the existence and assessing the valuation of significant trade receivables as at year end.

We found that the estimation and judgement made by management in respect of the valuation of trade receivables 
were supportable by the credible evidence.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND OUR AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH 
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no 
other purpose. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS(Cont’d)

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Ng Fai Fiona
Practising Certificate Number: P04986
Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 & 6 186,789 237,069
Cost of sales (140,290) (167,966)

Gross profit 46,499 69,103
Other income, gains and losses 7 1,505 13,852
Distribution costs (3,681) (4,132)
Gain from changes in fair value of an investment property 15 3,300 1,300
Administrative expenses (53,274) (42,680)
Finance costs 8 (35) (575)

(Loss) profit before tax 9 (5,686) 36,868
Income tax expenses 11 (4,910) (6,206)

(Loss) profit for the year (10,596) 30,662

Other comprehensive income (expenses), net of income tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of overseas operations 1,636 (3,209)

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year (8,960) 27,453

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (11,408) 23,272
Non-controlling interests 812 7,390

(Loss) profit for the year (10,596) 30,662

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year  
attributable to:
Owners of the Company (10,064) 20,396
Non-controlling interests 1,104 7,057

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year (8,960) 27,453

(Loss) earnings per share 13
Basic (3.49) Cents 7.14 Cents

Diluted (3.49) Cents 7.11 Cents
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 59,131 59,514
Investment property 15 36,000 32,700
Deferred tax assets 22 8,090 7,492

103,221 99,706

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 16 17,363 20,821
Trade and other receivables 17 23,186 28,945
Tax recoverable 58 398
Pledged bank deposits 19 — 47,223
Bank balances and cash 18 103,498 93,136

144,105 190,523

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 20 24,771 36,053
Tax liabilities 6,959 2,982
Bank borrowings 21 — 23,089

31,730 62,124

NET CURRENT ASSETS 112,375 128,399

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 215,596 228,105

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 22 95 50

NET ASSETS 215,501 228,055
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 23 32,692 32,692
Reserves 163,887 173,951

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 196,579 206,643
Non-controlling interests 18,922 21,412

TOTAL EQUITY 215,501 228,055

The financial statements on pages 42 to 102 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Gao Xiaorui Ms. Xie Yinuo
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Share 
options 
reserve

Translations 
reserve

Retained 
profits

Equity 
attributable  

to equity 
holders of the 

Company

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 31,834 111,222 10,337 9,620 249 19,725 182,987 15,708 198,695

Profit for the year — — — — — 23,272 23,272 7,390 30,662
Other comprehensive expenses  

for the year
Exchange differences on 

translation of overseas 
operations — — — — (2,876) — (2,876) (333) (3,209)

Total comprehensive (expenses) 
income for the year — — — — (2,876) 23,272 20,396 7,057 27,453

Share options cancelled — — — (7,618) — 7,618 — — —
Shares issued upon exercise of 

options 858 7,673 — (2,002) — — 6,529 — 6,529

Dividends paid (Note 12) — — — — — (3,269) (3,269) — (3,269)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests of subsidiaries — — — — — — — (1,353) (1,353)

At 31 December 2016 32,692 118,895 10,337 — (2,627) 47,346 206,643 21,412 228,055

At 1 January 2017 32,692 118,895 10,337 — (2,627) 47,346 206,643 21,412 228,055
(Loss) profit for the year — — — — — (11,408) (11,408) 812 (10,596)
Other comprehensive expenses for 

the year
Exchange differences on 

translation of overseas 
operations — — — — 1,344 — 1,344 292 1,636

Total comprehensive income 
(expenses) for the year — — — — 1,344 (11,408) (10,064) 1,104 (8,960)

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests of subsidiaries — — — — — — — (3,594) (3,594)

At 31 December 2017 32,692 118,895 10,337 — (1,283) 35,938 196,579 18,922 215,501
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before tax (5,686) 36,868
Adjustments for:

Bad debt recovered 7 (148) —
Bond interest income 7 — (48)
Interest expenses 8 35 575
Interest income 7 (105) (79)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 7,379 7,981
Dividend income from held for trading investment 7 — (1,651)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 (287) (234)
Gain on disposal of held for trading investment 7 — (1,604)
Gain from changes in fair value of investment property 15 (3,300) (1,300)
Gain from changes in fair value of derivative financial 

instruments 7 — (2,402)
Write-down of inventories 9 1,238 13
Trade payables written-off 7 — (119)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (874) 38,000
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 5,907 (4,971)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 2,220 (3,689)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (11,282) 14,661

Cash (used in) generated from operations (4,029) 44,001
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid, net (556) (4,115)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid, net (595) (440)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (5,180) 39,446
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits 47,223 (46,104)
Dividends received from held for trading investments — 1,651
Interest received 105 79
Bond interest received — 48
Purchase of financial assets designated as at fair value  

through profit or loss — (1,973)
Purchase of held for trading investments — (25,950)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (4,833) (7,026)
Proceeds on disposal of held for trading investments — 69,402
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 287 250

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 42,782 (9,623)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid to owners of the Company — (3,269)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (3,594) (1,353)
Interest paid (35) (575)
Proceeds received upon share option exercised — 6,529
Repayment of bank borrowings 21 (23,089) (3,017)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (26,718) (1,685)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,884 28,138

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 93,136 66,286
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates (522) (1,288)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 103,498 93,136

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash 103,498 93,136
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited 
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The 
address of the registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda and the 
principal place of business is Units C & D, 9/F, Sing Teck Factory Building, 44 Wong Chuk Hang Road, 
Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of novelties, decoration and toy products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

  Amendments to HKFRSs that became effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 

Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

 New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related 
Amendments1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 
Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 The original effective date has been deferred to a date yet to be determined

The Directors anticipate that the application of these new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations 
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable 
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such 
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing 
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair 
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 
Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Investment in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries presented in the Company’s statement of financial position included in note 34 
to the consolidated financial statements are stated at cost less identified impairment loss.

 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities, as described below.

 Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which 
time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

 Dividend and interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that 
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for 
on a prospective basis, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 3–5%
Factory premises 5–33%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15–33%
Plant, machinery and moulds 10–20%
Motor vehicles 25–33%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties 
are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at their fair values. All of the Group’s property interests held under 
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as 
investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Leasing (Cont’d)

 The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a 
straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

 Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element 
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is 
clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating 
lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated 
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests 
in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is 
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments 
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified 
as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
except for:

• exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment 
to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

• exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in 
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences 
arising if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading 
of foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, 
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal 
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained 
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that 
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals 
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), 
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are 
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “(loss) profit 
before tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that 
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the 
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume 
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through 
sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred 
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting 
for the business combination.

 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on 
a first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

 Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace

 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 Loans and receivables

Loan and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loan and receivables (including trade and other 
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment (see the accounting policy on impairment loss on financial 
assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where 
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

 Financial assets (Cont’d)

 Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Object evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of 60 days, observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a 
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability 
and an equity instrument.

 Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognised its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amounts recognised as a provision, including those arising from the contractual obligation specified in 
the service concession arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it is handed over to the 
grantor, is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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 Share-based payment arrangements

 Share-based payment transactions of the Company

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of 
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 28 to the Group’s consolidation financial statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase 
in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the 
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting 
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled 
employee benefits reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the 
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised 
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained 
profits.

 Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group and the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entities and the Group are the member of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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 Related parties (Cont’d)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) the person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

 Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment property 
that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property 
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment property are not held under a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over 
time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment property, 
the directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment property measured 
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not 
recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment property as the Group is not subject 
to any income taxes on disposal of its investment property.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

 Depreciation

The Group’s net book value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2017 was approximately 
HK$59,131,000. The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment, using the straight-line method, at 
the rate 3% to 33% per annum, commencing from the date the assets is placed into productive use. The 
estimated useful life that the Group places the assets into productive use reflect the Directors’ estimate of 
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s property, 
plant and equipment.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

 Impairment on trade receivables

The policy for impairment on trade receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and 
aging analysis of accounts based on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is 
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and 
the past collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group had 
deteriorated, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional impairment may be 
required.

 Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets

As at 31 December 2017, a deferred tax asset of HK$8,090,000 in relation to unused tax losses has been 
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. The recoverability of deferred tax 
assets requires the Group to estimate the probability of taxable profits expected to arise from future operations. 
At the end of each reporting period, management evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets by way 
of profit forecast when necessary.

 Impairment on inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis at each reporting period, and identifies obsolete 
and slow-moving inventory items that are no longer suitable for use in production. The management estimates 
the net realisable value for such finished goods and work-in progress based primarily on the latest invoice 
prices and current market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product 
basis at the end of each reporting period and provides impairment on obsolete items.

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods sold by the Group to outside customers, 
less returns and trade discounts during the year.

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Novelties and decoration products 17,503 23,139
Toy products 169,286 213,930

186,789 237,069
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6. SEGMENTS REPORTING

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into two operating segments, namely the 
manufacture and sale of novelties and decoration products and the manufacture and sale of toy products.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments:

2017

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE
External sales and total revenue 17,503 169,286 186,789

RESULT
Segment result (5,872) 6,839 967

Gain from changes in fair value of  
an investment property 3,300

Unallocated corporate expenses (9,918)
Finance costs (35)

Loss before tax (5,686)
Income tax expenses (4,910)

Loss for the year (10,596)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

66 Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENTS REPORTING (Cont’d)

2017 (Cont’d)

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Segment assets 21,235 80,586 101,821
Unallocated corporate assets 145,505

Consolidated total assets 247,326

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 2,228 28,259 30,487
Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,338

Consolidated total liabilities 31,825

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Others Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Additions of property, plant and 
equipment 288 4,521 24 4,833

Depreciation 922 5,091 1,366 7,379
Interest income 14 82 9 105
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2016

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE
External sales and total revenue 23,139 213,930 237,069

RESULT
Segment result (7,332) 46,989 39,657

Gain from investments 5,708
Gain from changes in fair value of  

an investment property 1,300
Unallocated corporate expenses (9,222)
Finance costs (575)

Profit before tax 36,868
Income tax expenses (6,206)

Profit for the year 30,662
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2016 (Cont’d)

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Segment assets 44,510 128,915 173,425
Unallocated corporate assets 116,804

Consolidated total assets 290,229

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 12,897 34,819 47,716
Unallocated corporate liabilities 14,458

Consolidated total liabilities 62,174

Novelties and 
decoration 

products Toy products Others Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Additions of property, plant and 
equipment 1,089 5,937 — 7,026

Depreciation 1,033 5,333 1,615 7,981
Interest income 32 19 28 79

Segment result represents the result produced by each segment without allocation of central administration 
costs including directors’ salaries, investment and other income, finance costs, and income tax expenses. 
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation 
and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other than the held for trading investments, other financial 
assets, investment property and land and building held for own use. Assets used jointly by segments 
are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual segments; and

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than the other financial liabilities. Liabilities for 
which segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.
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 Geographical Information

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations are detailed below:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales revenue by geographical market:
Hong Kong 17,274 8,002
Europe 47,189 53,338
America 35,336 90,194
Asia (other than Hong Kong) 85,038 82,480
Others 1,952 3,055

186,789 237,069

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to property, plant and 
equipment, analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount  
of segment assets

Additions to property,  
plant and equipment

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 172,506 214,934 68 547
The People’s Republic of China  

(the “PRC”) 74,820 75,295 4,765 6,479

247,326 290,229 4,833 7,026

 Information about major customer

Included in revenue arising from sales of toy products of approximately HK$169,286,000 (2016: HK$213,930,000) 
is revenue of approximately HK$160,714,000 (2016: HK$207,136,000) which arose from sales to the Group’s 
largest customer, representing 86% (2016: 87%) of the total revenue.
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other income, gains and losses are:
Bad debt recovered 148 —
Bond interest income — 48
Dividend income from held for trading investments — 1,651
Interest income 105 79
Rental income 239 610
Scrap sales 1,277 1,795
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 287 234
Gain from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments — 2,402
Gain on disposal of held for trading investments — 1,604
Trade payables written-off — 119
Net foreign exchange (losses) gains (1,509) 3,294
Others 958 2,016

1,505 13,852

8. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 35 575
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9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration 1,075 1,050
Bad debt recovered 148 —
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 47,523 63,590
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,379 7,981
Operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises 5,528 5,700
Gross rental income from investment property (239) (610)

Less:
Direct operating expenses incurred for investment property that 

generated rental income during the year 53 101
Direct operating expenses incurred for investment property that did 

not generate rental income during the year 38 —

(148) (509)
Write-down of inventories (Note) 1,238 13
Staff costs

— Salaries and allowances (including Directors’ emoluments) 88,820 88,538
— Compensation on removal of a factory 3,763 —

Note: The write-down of inventories have been recognised in cost of sales.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

 (a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six Directors in 2017 were as follows:

Other emoluments

Emoluments Fees
Salaries and 

other benefits Bonuses

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors(i)

Xie Yinuo — — — — —
Poon Wai Yip, Albert — 2,560 232 (iii) 18 2,810

Non-executive Director and 
Chairman(ii)

Gao Xiaorui 180 — — — 180

Independent Non-executive 
Directors(ii)

Zhang Shang 180 — — — 180
Lau Shu Yan 180 — — — 180
Xie Xiaohong 180 — — — 180

Total for 2017 720 2,560 232 18 3,530
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

 (a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven Directors in 2016 were as follows:

Other emoluments

Emoluments Fees

Salaries  
and other 

benefits Bonuses

Retirement 
benefit  

scheme 
contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors(i)

Poon Siu Chung(iv) — 1,867 510 51 2,428
Poon Wai Tsun, William(iv) — 849 125 16 990
Poon Wai Yip, Albert — 916 100 18 1,034
Xie Yinuo(v) — — — — —

Non-executive Director and 
Chairman(ii)

Gao Xiaorui(iv) 17 — — — 17

Independent Non-executive 
Directors(ii)

Choy Wing Keung, David(iv) 50 — — — 50
Lam Yat Cheong(iv) 50 — — — 50
Yip Chi Hung(iv) 50 — — — 50
Zhang Shang(v) 17 — — — 17
Lau Shu Yan(v) 17 — — — 17
Xie Xiaohong(v) 17 — — — 17

Total for 2016 218 3,632 735 85 4,670

Notes:

(i) Salary paid to an Executive Director is generally an emolument paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

(ii) Salary paid to a Non-executive Director or Independent Non-executive Director is generally an emolument paid or receivable 
in respect of that person’s services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company.

(iii) The remuneration for the services of Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert with the Group was HK$2,560,000 per annum plus performance 
bonus at 1.25% on the Group’s consolidated net profits as well as discretionary bonus, which was determined by the Board 
based on the remuneration policy of the Company, with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Group and the 
prevailing market conditions (subject to review by the Remuneration Committee from time to time).

(iv) Resigned on 28 November 2016

(v) Appointed on 28 November 2016
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 (b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were no retirement benefits or termination benefits 
received by the directors (2016: nil).

 (c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no consideration was paid for making available the services 
of the directors of the Company (2016: nil).

 (d)  Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
bodies corporate controlled by and entities connected with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered 
into by the Company or subsidiaries undertaking of the Company in favour of directors, controlled bodies 
corporate by and connected entities with such directors (2016: nil).

 (e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in the report of the directors, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of 
significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a 
director of the Company had a material interests, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 
the year or at any time during the year (2016: nil).



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

75Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

 (f) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments of the Group, one (2016: three) was Director of the 
Company, namely Mr. Poon Wai Yip, Albert, whose emolument is set out in (a) above. The aggregate 
emoluments of the remaining four (2016: two) individuals were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 6,672 1,506
Bonuses 1,858 560
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 112 26

8,642 2,092

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2017 2016
Number of 
employees

Number of 
employees

Nil — HK$1,000,000 — —
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 2 2
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 — —
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 — —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 —
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 1 —

4 2

During the year, the remuneration paid to members of senior management was one in the band 
HK$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 (2016: one in band nil to HK$1,000,000)
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:
Hong Kong Profits Tax 2,755 6,894
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 249 257

3,004 7,151

Under (over) provision in prior years:
Hong Kong Profits Tax 2,302 (524)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 157 82

2,459 (442)

Deferred tax (Note 22)
Current year (553) (503)

Total income tax expenses recognised in profit or loss 4,910 6,206

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% for both years.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before tax as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit before tax (5,686) 36,868

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (938) 6,083
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (1,285) (7,150)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,668 3,717
Tax effect on temporary differences not recognised 156 155
Tax effect on tax losses not recognised 2,395 2,975
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (82) (141)
Under (over) provision in respect of prior years 2,459 (442)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in the PRC (463) 1,009

Tax charge for the year 4,910 6,206
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12. DIVIDENDS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim paid — nil (2016: 1.0 HK cent) — 3,269

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 
nil).

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is 
based on the net loss for the year of approximately HK$11,408,000 (2016: profit of HK$23,272,000) and the 
following data:

2017 2016

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares/weighted average number of  
ordinary shares for the purpose of  
basic (loss) earnings per share 326,923,607 325,864,137

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on share options — 1,349,884

Number of ordinary shares/weighted average number of  
ordinary shares for the purpose of  
diluted (loss) earnings per share 326,923,607 327,214,021

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 was the same as basic loss per share as there 
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for the year.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Factory 
premises

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
moulds

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2016 32,636 31,391 26,084 117,732 3,866 211,709
Additions — 1,520 522 4,271 713 7,026
Disposals — — (430) (1,092) (1,218) (2,740)
Exchange alignment — (145) (131) (2,485) (114) (2,875)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 32,636 32,766 26,045 118,426 3,247 213,120

Additions — 475 777 3,118 463 4,833
Disposals — — (9,445) (28,821) — (38,266)
Exchange alignment — 162 164 3,316 114 3,756

At 31 December 2017 32,636 33,403 17,541 96,039 3,824 183,443

DEPRECIATION AND 
AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2016 2,765 30,888 19,503 93,393 2,742 149,291
Provided for the year 1,145 970 1,292 4,210 364 7,981
Eliminated upon disposal — — (428) (1,090) (1,206) (2,724)
Exchange alignment — (28) (94) (787) (33) (942)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 3,910 31,830 20,273 95,726 1,867 153,606

Provided for the year 1,145 1,122 857 3,664 591 7,379
Eliminated upon disposal — — (9,445) (28,821) — (38,266)
Exchange alignment — 51 103 1,388 51 1,593

At 31 December 2017 5,055 33,003 11,788 71,957 2,509 124,312

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2017 27,581 400 5,753 24,082 1,315 59,131

At 31 December 2016 28,726 936 5,772 22,700 1,380 59,514
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following 
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 3–5%
Factory premises 5–33%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15–33%
Plant, machinery and moulds 10–20%
Motor vehicles 25–33%

The Group has not obtained Certificate for Housing Ownership in respect of the Group’s factory premises 
with carrying value of approximately HK$400,000 (2016: HK$936,000) at 31 December 2017.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value
Balance at the beginning of the year 32,700 31,400
Gain from changes in fair value of investment properties 3,300 1,300

Balance at the end of the year 36,000 32,700

The Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals are measured using the fair value 
model and are classified and accounted for as investment property.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December 2017 has been arrived at on the basis of 
a valuation carried out at that date by BMI Appraisals Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not 
connected to the Group. BMI Appraisals Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and 
has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in relevant locations.

At 31 December 2017, the fair value was determined based on Comparison Approach assuming sale of the 
property interest in its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to 
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant market. In estimating the fair value of the property, 
the highest and best use of the property is its current use. At 31 December 2016, the fair value was determined 
based on Investment Approach and Comparison Approach. The investment property was vacant as the year 
end, therefore, only Comparison Approach was adopted by Surveyors at 31 December 2017.

The key inputs used in valuing the investment property were unit rent rate and the unit sale price in 2016, 
while the key input was the unit sale price taking into account of time, location and individual factors such 
as size and levels of building, which range from approximately HK$9,296 to HK$12,323 per square foot in 
2017. An increase in the unit sale rate would result in increase in fair value of the investment property by 
the same percentage and vice versa.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Cont’d)

Details of the Group’s investment property and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 
2017 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Commercial property units  
located in Hong Kong — — 36,000 36,000

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The carrying amounts of investment property shown above comprise:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Land in Hong Kong:
Medium-term lease 36,000 32,700

16. INVENTORIES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At cost
Raw materials 6,480 8,036
Work in progress 3,090 2,757
Finished goods 7,793 10,028

17,363 20,821
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 20,564 29,380
Less: impairment loss on trade receivables (4,524) (6,809)

16,040 22,571

Other receivables
Prepayment 3,766 1,233
Rental, utility and other deposits 1,710 1,949
Cash deposit in broker’s account 8 7
Sundry debtors and others (Note a) 1,662 3,185

7,146 6,374

23,186 28,945

Note a:  Included in sundry debtors and others were mainly export tax rebates receivables and receivables of Social Security Insurance 
paid on behalf of employees in mainland China.

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to its trade customers.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, presented based on invoice dates and 
net of allowance for doubtful debts at the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

0–60 days 15,554 22,204
61–90 days 209 361
91–120 days — —
Over 120 days 277 6

16,040 22,571

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past due at the end of reporting period for 
which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any 
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of offsetting against 
any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables that were past due but not impaired at 
the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Overdue by:
0–60 days 5,138 4,105
61–90 days — 306
91–120 days 277 —
Over 120 days — 6

5,415 4,417

The following is the movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 6,809 6,809
Amounts recovered during the year (148) —
Amount written off during the year as uncollectible (2,137) —

At 31 December 4,524 6,809

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality 
of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The 
fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at 31 December 2017 approximates the corresponding 
carrying amount.

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s impaired trade receivables:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Overdue by:
Over 120 days 4,524 6,809

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The amounts comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rates ranging 
from 0.001% to 0.304% p.a. (2016: 0.001% to 0.930% p.a.) with an original maturity of three months or less. 
The fair value of these assets at 31 December 2017 approximates to the corresponding carrying amounts.
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19. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amount represents deposits pledged to banks to secure margin loan facilities granted to the Group and 
are therefore classified as current assets. At the end of the year, there were no pledged bank deposits (2016: 
HK$47,223,000).

The deposits carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.001% to 0.507% p.a. (2016: ranging from 0.001% 
to 0.508% p.a.). The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings. 
The fair value of bank deposits at 31 December 2016 approximates to the corresponding carrying amount.

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on invoice dates at the 
end of reporting period:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables
0–60 days 7,153 12,757
61–90 days 1,830 1,755
91–120 days 95 150
Over 120 days 521 433

9,599 15,095

Other payables
Accrued salary, bonus and commission 7,710 8,789
Deposits received from customers 3,989 7,375
Accrued expenses and others 3,473 4,794

15,172 20,958

24,771 36,053

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 45 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk 
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame. The fair value 
of the Group’s trade and other payables at 31 December 2017 approximates the corresponding carrying 
amount.
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21. BANK BORROWINGS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured bank loan (Note) — 23,089

Note:  Secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and investment property bearing interest from HIBOR +1.75% to HIBOR +2.25% 
p.a. (2016: HIBOR +1.75% to HIBOR +2.25% p.a.). The effective interest rate on the secured bank loans ranged from 2.24% to 
2.75% p.a. (2016: 1.95% to 2.75% p.a.).

The carrying amounts repayable extracted from agreed repayment schedules from financial institutions are 
as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year — 12,575
More than one year, but not exceeding two years (Note a) — 3,160
More than two years, but not exceeding five years (Note a) — 7,354
More than five years (Note a) — —

— 23,089

Notes:

(a) These bank loans that are not repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period but as these term loans include a 
clause that gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loans at any time, and according to HK Int 5 which requires the 
classification of the whole term loans containing the repayment on demand clause as current liabilities, all the term loans were 
classified by the Group as current liabilities.

(b) All these bank loans have been repaid in full in January 2017.
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22. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements 
thereon during the current and prior years:

Tax 
depreciation Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 (463) (6,476) (6,939)
Charge to income for the year (8) (495) (503)

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 (471) (6,971) (7,442)
Credit (charge) to income for the year 10 (563) (553)

At 31 December 2017 (461) (7,534) (7,995)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned 
by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the 
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the profits earned by the 
PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and 
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

With regard to the Group’s investment property, as none of the Group’s investment property is held under a 
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the 
investment property over time, rather than through sale, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes 
on changes in fair value of the investment property as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on 
disposal of its investment property.

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets 
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting 
purposes:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 95 50
Deferred tax assets (8,090) (7,492)

(7,995) (7,442)

At the end of reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$176,509,000 (2016: 
HK$159,098,000) available for offset against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. A deferred 
tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$45,659,000 (2016: HK$42,232,000) of such 
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$130,850,000 (2016: 
HK$116,866,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Share capital
2017 2016 2017 2016
’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 700,000 700,000 70,000 70,000

Issued and fully paid
At beginning of year 326,924 318,338 32,692 31,834
Exercise of share options — 8,586 — 858

At end of year 326,924 326,924 32,692 32,692

24. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

No bank deposits have been pledged to secure the margin loan facilities granted to the Group at the year 
end (2016: HK$47,223,000).

The Group has pledged the following assets to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

(i) Leasehold land and buildings with aggregate carrying amount of HK$27,581,000 (2016: HK$28,726,000); 
and

(ii) Investment property with aggregate carrying amount of HK$36,000,000 (2016: HK$32,700,000).

25. OPERATING LEASES

 The Group as lessee

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease payments made under operating leases during the year
Rented premises 5,617 5,467

At 31 December 2017, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 4,933 5,444
In the second to fifth years inclusive 5,825 9,694
Over five years 23,786 24,800

34,544 39,938

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office and factory premises, 
with lease terms of between 1 to 28 years.
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25. OPERATING LEASES (Cont’d)

 The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$239,000 (2016: HK$610,000). The investment property 
is held for rental purposes. It is expected to generate rental yields of 0.66% p.a. (2016: 1.87% p.a.) on an 
ongoing basis. The property held was vacant at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum 
lease payments:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year — 291
In the second to fifth years inclusive — 25

— 316

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

THE GROUP
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of property,  
plant and equipment

Contracted but not provided for 190 361

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 (a) Contingent liability in respect of legal claim

A subsidiary of the Group (the “Subsidiary”) has served a writ and claimed against three former 
employees of the Subsidiary (the “Defendants”). The claim related to the misconduct of the Defendants 
during their employment with the Subsidiary. The Defendants had filed a defence and counterclaim 
against the Subsidiary for wages and other payments allegedly payable upon their termination of 
employment with the Subsidiary amounting to approximately HK$419,000 together with interest and 
costs. The Directors of the Company take the views that the amount of the Subsidiary’s claims against 
the Defendants well exceeded the Defendants’ claims, and accordingly, no provision for any liabilities 
that may result has been made in the financial statements of the Group.

The claims have been pending since 2005.
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27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

 (b) Financial guarantees issued

At the end of reporting period, the Company has issued the following guarantees:

(i) Corporate guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries

The Company is also one of the entities covered by a cross guarantee arrangement issued by 
the Company and its Subsidiaries to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to the Group 
which remains in force so long as the Group has drawn down under the banking facilities. Under 
the guarantee, the Company and all the Subsidiaries that are parties to the guarantee are jointly 
and severally liable for all and any of the borrowings of each of them from the bank which is the 
beneficiary of the guarantee.

(ii) An unlimited guarantee granted to a subsidiary in relation to a mortgage loan (see note 21).

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors did not consider it probable that a claim could be made against 
the Company under any of the guarantees as the probability of default payment for the loan drawn 
down, if any, by the subsidiaries is remote.

The Company had not recognised any deferred income in respect of the corporate guarantee as its fair 
value cannot be reliably measured and its transaction price was nil.

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted in the annual general meeting of the Company held 
on 17 May 2002 and was expired on 16 May 2012. In view of the expiration of the Old Scheme, a new share 
option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was adopted in the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 
May 2012 and will expire on 29 May 2022. The primary purpose of both the Old Scheme and the New 
Scheme is to recognise and motivate the contribution of employees and other persons who may have a 
contribution to the Group and to provide them with incentives and to help the Company in retaining its existing 
employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide the aforesaid eligible participants with a direct 
economic interest and personal stake in attaining the long term business objectives of the Company.

Under the Old Scheme, the board of Directors may grant options to any employees, including full time or 
part time employees, of the Company and/or its subsidiaries including any executive and non-executive 
directors or proposed executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its subsidiaries, advisers, 
consultants, agents, contractors, clients and suppliers of any members of the Group who has contributed to 
the Group, while under the New Scheme, the board of Directors may grant options to any employees, including 
full time or part time employees, of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, including any executive and  
non-executive directors or proposed executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its subsidiaries, 
advisers, consultants, customers and suppliers and/or other persons who in the sole discretion of the board 
of Directors has contributed or may contribute to the Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the scheme for the consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options granted.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under both the Old Scheme 
and the New Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date 
of adoption of the Old Scheme and New Scheme respectively. In addition, the maximum number of shares 
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under both 
the Old Scheme and the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 
30% (or such higher percentage as may be allowed under the Listing Rules) of the total number of shares 
in issue from time to time. The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual 
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of shares of the Company for the time being in issue without 
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders in general meeting with the aforesaid proposed individual 
grantee and his associates being abstained from voting in such general meeting. Also, where any grant of 
options to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or an independent 
non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result 
in the shares of the Company (“Shares”) issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted 
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month 
period up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class 
of Shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of 
each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be approved by shareholders, and 
the grantee, his associates and all connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company must 
abstain from voting in favour at the relevant general meeting.

No options are open for acceptance under the Old Scheme since its expiry on 16 May 2012 and in relation 
to the New Scheme, options granted must remain open for acceptance until 5:00 p.m. on the 5th business 
day following the offer date provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the tenth anniversary 
of the adoption date or after the New Scheme has been terminated. Options may be exercised during the 
period as the Directors may in its absolute discretion determine, save that such period shall not be more 
than 10 years from the date of the grant of the options and the board of Directors may provide restrictions 
on the exercise of an option during the period an option may be exercised.

Total consideration received during the period from the Directors, employees and/or other persons for taking 
up the options granted during the year is nil (2016: HK$nil).

All options were vested on the date of grant upon acceptance.

The exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors at the time of the grant of the relevant option and 
will be at least the highest of

a) the closing price of shares at the date of grant of a share option;

b) the average closing price of the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of 
grant; and

c) the nominal value of a share.

At the date of this report, the number of shares available for issue under the Old Scheme and the New 
Scheme of the Company were nil and 32,692,360 respectively, representing approximately 0% and 10% 
respectively of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Details of the movements in the Company’s share options during the year 2016 and the year 2017 are as 
follows:

Option type At 1.1.2016

Exercised 
during  

the year 2016

Cancelled 
during  

the year 2016

At 31.12.2016, 
1.1.2017 & 
31.12.2017

Directors A 2,700,000 (2,700,000) — —
B 5,972,000 (5,886,000) (86,000) —
C 6,472,000 — (6,472,000) —

15,144,000 (8,586,000) (6,558,000) —

Others C 9,894,000 — (9,894,000) —

9,894,000 — (9,894,000) —

Total 25,038,000 (8,586,000) (16,452,000) —

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Option type Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price
HK$

A 13 April 2011 1 May 2011 to 31 December 2020 0.740
B 1 April 2015 2 April 2015 to 1 April 2025 0.770
C 5 May 2015 6 May 2015 to 5 May 2025 1.460

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on 13 April 2011, 1 April 2015 and 5 May 2015, the dates of 
grant of the options, were HK$0.740, HK$0.770 and HK$1.460 respectively.

During the year, no share option had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in two defined contribution schemes which are registered under the Occupational 
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the 
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Certain employees 
who were members of the ORSO Schemes prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme had switched to 
the MPF Scheme and the remaining employees selected to remain in the ORSO Schemes. All new employees 
joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, 
which contribution is matched by the employee. The ORSO Schemes are funded by monthly contributions 
from both employees and the Group at the rate of 5% of the employee’s basic salary.
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29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (Cont’d)

Employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by 
the PRC Government. The Group are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the pension 
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the pension scheme is to make 
the required contributions.

During the reporting period and at the end of reporting period, there was no forfeited contribution, which 
arose upon employees leaving the ORSO Schemes and which are available to reduce the contributions 
payable in future years.

The total cost recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
approximately HK$532,000 (2016: HK$396,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the 
Group in respect of the current accounting period.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year, the Group had the following significant transactions with related parties who are not 
members of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental expenses paid to:
Mr. Poon Siu Chung (Note) 120 120

Note: Mr. Poon Siu Chung is a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 4,712 5,454
Post-employment benefits 37 122

4,749 5,576

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the Board and reviewed by the 
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. 
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these 
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management 
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.

 Foreign currency risk management

Several subsidiaries of the Company have sales and purchases denominated in foreign currency, which 
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently has no foreign currency hedging policy and 
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency 
exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s major foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
2017 2017 2016 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Renminbi (“RMB”) 26,547 14,659 25,448 21,967

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong 
dollars, the effect in the profit for the year is as follows:

Impact of  
RMB

Impact of  
RMB

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase/decrease in profit for the year 594 174

Besides, at the end of the reporting period, the Group has bank balances of approximately US$1,189,000, 
the sensitivity of fluctuation in USD exchange rate is considered insignificant as the Hong Kong dollars 
banknotes are fully backed by US dollars held by Exchange Fund at the rate of HK$7.8 to US$1.0.

 Liquidity risk management

Internally generated cash flow and bank borrowings are the general sources of funds to finance the operations 
of the Group. The majority of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to floating rates and are renewable 
annually. The Group’s liquidity risk management includes making available standby banking facilities and 
diversifying the funding sources. The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure it has 
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

The maturity profiles of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of reporting period based on contractual 
undiscounted payments are summarised below:

2017

Within 1 year 2-5 years Over 5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 9,599 — — 9,599
Accruals and other payables 15,172 — — 15,172
Capital commitments in respect of the 

acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment contracted for but not 
provided in the consolidated 
financial statements 190 — — 190

24,961 — — 24,961

2016

Within 1 year 2-5 years Over 5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 15,095 — — 15,095
Accruals and other payables 20,958 — — 20,958
Bank borrowings 12,575 10,514 — 23,089
Capital commitments in respect of the 

acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment contracted for but not 
provided in the consolidated  
financial statements 361 — — 361

48,989 10,514 — 59,503

 Interest rate risk management

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The Group’s exposure to changes in interest 
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings which are not significant.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Credit risk management

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties failure to perform their 
obligations as at 31 December 2017 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise the 
credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, 
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 
debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt to ensure 
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management 
considers that the group’s credit risk is significant reduced.

 Price risk management

The Group’s investments is mainly in equity securities listed in Hong Kong. Decisions to buy or sell trading 
securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared to that of the 
relevant stock market index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs. To manage 
its price risk arising from the equity securities, the Group maintains a portfolio of diversified investments with 
different risk profiles.

 Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting 
period. For sensitivity analysis purpose, the sensitivity rate is increased to 5% in the current year as a result 
of the volatile financial market.

If listed equity prices had been 5% higher/lower (2016: 5% higher/lower), profit for the year ended 31 December 
2017 would increase/decrease by nil (2016: increase/decrease by nil). This is mainly due to the changes in 
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

 Fair values

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables, accrued liabilities and other payables approximated their fair values due to the short-term 
maturities of these assets and liabilities. The Directors consider that financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are included in the statement of financial position at amounts approximating to their fair values.

 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

During 2017, the Group’s strategy remained unchanged as compared to that in 2016. The Group monitors 
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This gearing ratio is calculated as total bank borrowings divided by 
equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Capital risk management (Cont’d)

The management considers the gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings — 23,089
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 196,579 206,643

Gearing ratio NIL 11%

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) 19,420 27,712

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 20,782 28,678

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
registration

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued/paid 
up capital held by  

the Company
Paid up ordinary 

share capital Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Asia Rich (Far East) Limited Hong Kong — 79.6% HK$2 Inactive

Benefit International Packing 
Materials Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Trading of novelties and festival 
decorations

Benefit Packing Materials Limited Hong Kong — 75% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Beyond Growth International Limited Hong Kong — 79.6% HK$100,000 Manufacture and sales of toys

Dream Creation Limited Hong Kong — 79.6% HK$2 Investment holding and 
distribution of toys

Fareastern Trade Limited British Virgin  
Islands 
(“BVI”)

— 88% US$87,618 Investment holding

Freshwater Trading Limited BVI — 100% US$1 Investment holding
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
registration

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued/paid 
up capital held by  

the Company
Paid up ordinary 

share capital Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Golden Enterprise Holdings Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$2 Distribution of toys

Headfit Paper Bags Trading Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Securities investments and 
trading of paper bags

iTech Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$2 Investment holding

Leader Packaging Company Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Leader Stationery & Gifts 
Manufacturing Company Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Link Faith Company Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Securities investments

Mars Technology Limited BVI — 79.6% US$10,000 Investment holding

New Genius Technology Limited BVI — 100% US$1 Investment holding

Onward Packing Manufacturer 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$320,000 Manufacture of novelties, festival 
decorations products

Perfect Skill Limited BVI — 100% US$1 Investment holding

Perfectech Colour Centre Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Perfectech Enterprises (B.V.I.) 
Limited

BVI — 100% US$1 Investment holding

Perfectech International (B.V.I.) 
Limited

BVI 100% — US$50 Investment holding

Perfectech International Toys Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Perfectech International Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$200 
HK$80,000 
(non-voting 

deferred shares)

Investment holding

Perfectech International 
Manufacturing Limited

BVI — 100% US$2,457,000 Investment holding

Perfectech International Packaging 
Products Company Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$450,000 Inactive

Perfectech International Trading 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$2 Trading of novelties and festival 
decorations
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
registration

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued/paid 
up capital held by  

the Company
Paid up ordinary 

share capital Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Perfectech Paper Products Company 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Investment holding

Perfectech Plastic Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Inactive

Perfectech Printing Company Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Investment holding

Perfectech Rigid (PVC) Pipe 
Manufacturing Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$1,000,000 Investment holding

Shouji Mould Engineering Company 
Limited

Hong Kong — 88% HK$2 Distribution of mould

Shouji Tooling Factory Limited Hong Kong — 88% HK$1,000 Manufacture and sales of moulds

Skyrocket Assets Limited BVI — 100% US$1 Investment holding

Sunflower Garland Manufactory 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$2 
HK$160,000 
(non-voting 

deferred shares)

Securities and properties 
investment

Yu-Me (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$2 Provision of management 
services

Vivid Art Holdings Limited BVI — 100% US$50,000 Investment holding

Prosperous Celestial Holding Limited BVI — 100% US$50,000 Investment holding

Universal Celestial Holding Limited BVI — 100% US$50,000 Investment holding

Jolly Celestial Holding Limited BVI — 100% US$50,000 Investment holding

Vigor Celestial Holding Limited BVI — 100% US$50,000 Investment holding

Prosperous Celestial (HK) Holding 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Inactive

Universal Celestial (HK) Holding 
Limited

Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Inactive

Jolly Celestial (HK) Holding Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Inactive

Vigor Celestial (HK) Holding Limited Hong Kong — 100% HK$10,000 Inactive
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
registration

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued/paid 
up capital held by  

the Company
Paid up ordinary 

share capital Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

中山市威嘉紙品有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 100% HK$12,500,000 Inactive

東青林模具塑膠(深圳)有限公司  
(Note a)

The PRC — 88% HK$45,004,200 Manufacture and sales of moulds

珠海市多發塑膠製品有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 100% HK$500,000 Manufacture and trading of 
novelties and festival 
decorations products

江門市安發塑膠製品有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 100% HK$600,000 Inactive

中山市威發塑膠製品有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 100% RMB6,000,000 Manufacture of novelties and 
festival decorations products

中山市志發玩具有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 79.6% RMB8,000,000 Manufacture and sales of toys

中山市利發玩具有限公司 (Note a) The PRC — 79.6% RMB3,001,039 Manufacture and sales of toys

Note:

(a) These subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year.

 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling 
interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
operations

Proportion of 
ownership 

interests and 
voting rights held 
by non-controlling 

interests

Profit (loss) 
allocated to 

non-controlling 
interests

Accumulated  
non-controlling 

interests
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Fareastern Trade Limited BVI/Hong Kong 88% 88% 1,107 1,107 7,439 6,910

Mars Technology Limited BVI/Hong Kong 79.6% 79.6% (293) 6,285 10,757 13,774

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before 
intragroup eliminations.
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

 Fareastern Trade Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries (Fareastern Group)

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 235,680 216,277

Non-current assets 17,220 16,237

Current liabilities (190,835) (174,924)

Non-current liabilities (60) —

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 54,566 50,680

Non-controlling interests 7,439 6,910

Revenue 90,002 79,278

Expenses (80,774) (70,049)

Profit for the year 9,228 9,229

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 8,121 8,122

Profit for the year attributable to the non-controlling interests 1,107 1,107

Profit for the year 9,228 9,229

Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to owners  
of the Company 1,205 (1,820)

Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to the  
non-controlling interests 164 (248)

Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year 1,369 (2,068)

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 9,326 6,302
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling 

interests 1,271 859

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,597 7,161

Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,151 8,720
Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,573) (911)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (536) (215)

Net cash (outflow) inflow (1,958) 7,594
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

 Mars Technology Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries (Mars Group)

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 173,087 176,155

Non-current assets 10,516 10,157

Current liabilities (132,627) (119,528)

Non-current liabilities — —

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 40,219 53,010

Non-controlling interests 10,757 13,774

Revenue 79,285 141,094

Expenses (80,720) (110,286)

(Loss) profit for the year (1,435) 30,808

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (1,142) 24,523
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to the non-controlling interests (293) 6,285

(Loss) profit for the year (1,435) 30,808

Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to owners  
of the Company 498 (330)

Other comprehensive income (expenses) attributable to the non-
controlling interests 128 (85)

Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year 626 (415)

Total comprehensive (expenses) income attributable to owners  
of the Company (644) 24,193

Total comprehensive (expenses) income attributable to the non-
controlling interests (165) 6,200

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year (809) 30,393

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (35,840) 23,571
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,602) (4,938)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (3,058) (1,138)

Net cash (outflow) inflow (40,500) 17,495
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 32,451 32,061
Property, plant and equipment 20 —

32,471 32,061

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayment and deposit 140 267
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note a) 143,585 213,222
Bank balances and cash 63,836 48

207,561 213,537

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses 1,168 421
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note a) 68,673 68,073
Tax liabilities — —

69,841 68,494

NET CURRENT ASSETS 137,720 145,043

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 170,191 177,104

NET ASSETS 170,191 177,104

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital (Note 23) 32,692 32,692
Reserves 137,499 144,412

TOTAL EQUITY 170,191 177,104

Note a:  The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and had no fixed term of repayment.

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Gao Xiaorui Ms. Xie Yinuo
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

102 Perfectech International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF  
THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

 Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Share 
options 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2016 31,834 111,222 10,337 9,620 18,032 181,045
Share options cancelled — — — (7,618) 7,618 —
Shares issued upon exercise  

of options 858 7,673 — (2,002) — 6,529
Dividends — — — — (3,269) (3,269)
Loss and total comprehensive 

expenses for the year — — — — (7,201) (7,201)

At 31 December 2016 32,692 118,895 10,337 — 15,180 177,104

Loss and total comprehensive 
expenses for the year — — — — (6,913) (6,913)

At 31 December 2017 32,692 118,895 10,337 — 8,267 170,191
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 248,741 225,549 198,088 237,069 186,789

Profit (loss) before tax 32,712 13,840 (10,708) 36,868 (5,686)
Income tax expenses (8,449) (3,494) (2,668) (6,206) (4,910)

Profit (loss) for the year from  
continuing operations 24,263 10,346 (13,376) 30,662 (10,596)

Loss for the year from  
discontinued operations (8,272) — — — —

Profit (loss) for the year 15,991 10,346 (13,376) 30,662 (10,596)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 12,512 7,677 (16,090) 23,272 (11,408)
Non-controlling interests 3,479 2,669 2,714 7,390 812

Profit (loss) for the year 15,991 10,346 (13,376) 30,662 (10,596)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 280,606 264,136 253,041 290,229 247,326
Total liabilities (65,977) (67,238) (54,346) (62,174) (31,825)

Total equity 214,629 196,898 198,695 228,055 215,501

Non-controlling interests 13,720 14,597 15,708 21,412 18,922
Equity attributable to owners  

of the Company 200,909 182,301 182,987 206,643 196,579

Total equity 214,629 196,898 198,695 228,055 215,501
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Category Location Use
Category  
of lease

Group’s 
interest

Unit 1 & 2, 15/F, Sun Hing Industrial Building,  
46 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Aberdeen, Hong Kong

Industrial Medium-term 100%

LEASEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS

Category Location Use
Category  
of lease

Group’s 
interest

Unit C & D, 9/F, Sing Teck Factory Building,  
44 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Aberdeen, Hong Kong

Industrial Medium-term 100%
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